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The Mellen City Hall is situated in the center of Mellen, a village 
whose population numbered 1,168 in 1970. Built in 1896, the building 
has been in continous use as the city hall.

The exterior of the city hall has changed little since its construction.
It is built in the vernacular Queen Anne style and has two stories
and a hipped roof. Cablets with semi-circular lights dot the roof.
A slightly projecting pavilion, topped with a chimney, appears ;on the
west side. Although the gable of the pavilion is windowless, the characteristic
sash windows on this building plercea on the wall. A gabled dormer
on the south roof matches the pavilion dormer and is also windowless.
The building is further embellished with a wooden belt course above
the first floor windows, a wooden water table, and a molded cornice.
There are also corner boards. Originally the roof had metal cresting
which has since been removed.

The dominant feature on the hall is an octagonal bell tower at the 
southwest corner. Its ogee roof shelters an open belfry enclosed with 
a turned wood balustrade. The bell is still operable and is rung every 
year on the Fourth of July.

The main entrance to the building is on the south wall. There is a 
bracketed hood that was originally a balcony over the door and transom. 
In 1921 the balustrade was removed and the double doors were replaced 
with a single door.

A vehicular entry at the north end of the west wall leads to the fire 
hall. Originally, the jail was in this portion of the building, but 
it was moved to another building many years ago. Until the 1940s 
firefighting equipment was stored in this area. At that time a two 
door garage was added to the north end of the city hall. The garage 
was used to house the new fire-fighting equipment and ambulance.

The first floor of the building was originally divided into two long 
rooms, plus the jail at the north end. The east room was the police 
office and the west was used for civic affairs. In the north wall the 
original safe is intact. At some point the belfry room was partitioned 
off and the police station was housed there. Other city offices then 
occupied the east room. In 1927 a library was opened in the west room 
of the building, and in 1976 a museum was opened in the large, open 
second floor room. The interior is remarkably unchanged. High ceilings, 
including a vaulted ceiling on the second floor, and wooden floors, 
woodwork, and staircases are all original.

City offices still occupy the building, but their relocation is imminent. 
The city has bought another building, but has yet to renovate it. 
When renovation is complete, everything but the museum are scheduled 
to move. The city is not planning on heating the old city hall, thus
rapid deterioration of the building and collections is certain.

(continued)p. 4
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7. DESCRIPTION continued

The Mellen Area Historical Society is very interested in having the building 
preserved, restored, and maintained as a viable community center. They 
would like to see the building insulated and weather-proofed, and 
would like to cestore the original balcony and double doors. Further, 
they feel that community interests could be better served if the library 
were to remain in the building after city offices have moved.'

8. SIGNIFICANCE continued

Other community affairs that occurred at City Hall included rummage sales, 
bingo games, suppers, lectures, political rallies, and even "exhibition boxing, 
wrestling and harmony singing 19 (Mellen Weekly Record, 2-10-21). During a brief 
period prior to 1901 the Immanuel Lutheran Church held services in German 
at the city hall.

Movies and plays were often featured in the "Opera House" on the second 
floor. The first silent movies were shown here, accompanied by a three 
piece orchestra. The proprietor, Theodore Steinmetz, sometimes spoke the 
dialogue with his partner, Mr. King.

Prior to construction of a new school in 1911 the city hall was often 
used for graduation ceremonies, school plays, and debates and oratorical 
contests. For nearly a year after the old Mellen School burned in 1910 
the sixth grade through high school classes were taught in the city hall.

The library has occupied City Hall since it was organized in 1927. A local 
woodsman, August Rohloff, bequeathed $1,500 to the city to establish a 
library (Margaret McCarthy, interviewed by Mary Mailer, February 1979). 
Interest is still drawn on this account. The museum began in 1976 as a 
Bicentennial project. Collections include rare local photographs, ledgers, 
diaries, and old books, regional tools and household appliances, and uniforms 
from World War I.

The most far-reaching claim to fame by the Mellen City Hall was its appearance 
in the 20th Centtmy Fox movie, "Hemingway's Adventures as a Young Man." 
According to the director, Marty Ritt, "Mellen was selected out of dozens 
of others because it had neither lost the charm of an upper Midwest village 
at the time of World War I, nor had it been allowed to become derelict"

(cont.)
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Mellen City Hall is significant as a long time seat of local government 
activities, as well as the scene of many social, educational, and cultural 
events. There is no other building in the small town of Mellen that has touched 
the lives of nearly all residents with such a variety of functions. The building 
was designed by a notable northern Wisconsin architect and is typical of many of 
the public buildings he designed in the northwestern part of the state. It has 
changed very little on both the exterior and interior since its construction in 
1896.

The existing Mellen City Hall was the first structure to house city 
government offices in this community. Offices of the city clerk, treasurer, 
justice of the peace, and police are all housed here. Taxes have been collected, 
elections conducted, town meetings held, and an occasional marriage ceremony 
performed at City Hall. In the early days of the city hall's existence prisoners 
were housed here and, since 1907 when the city was incorporated, fire-fighting 
equipment has been stored here.

Ever since its construction, the city hall has served the community as a key 
focus of social, educational, and cultural activities. Several community groups 
have gathered in the meeting rooms of City Hall. The Commercial Club, whose 
membership included area farmers and businessmen, met there from 1913 until 
about 1923. The American Legion and the Women's Auxiliary of the American 
Legion both met at City Hall. Established in 1919, the American Legion met 
in the downstairs west room until the library occupied that space. Then they 
began meeting upstairs.

For several years the American Legion sponsored dances every Friday night. 
Mr. Charles Markee recalls that music was provided by the "one-man-band" from 
Butternut, a Mr. Klein. This versatile musician played his concertina, drums, 
and other instruments to create waltzes, polkas, and two-steps (Charles Markee, 
interviewed by Mary Mailer, February 1979). Other dances were held there too. 
Mrs. Minnie Anderson recalls that "during World War I whenever a contingent 
of enlistees would leave Mellen to go to the war, there was always a farewell 
dance given upstairs in City Hall" (Minnie Anderson, interviewed by Mary Mailer, 
February 1979).

1. Minutes of Mellen City Council, filed at Mellen City Hall.
2. Ibid.

(continued)
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8. SIGNIFICANCE continued

(Mellen Chamber of Commerce and Area Development Association, 1962). 
The city hall was included in some scenic views of the city.

The city hall was designed by Henry Wildhagen, a prominent Ashland 
architect. Between 1893 and his death in 1920 Wildhagen designed 
many public buildings in northern Wisconsin" (Ashland Daily Press, 
3-24-20, p. 1). Several of his buildings were of frame construction 
with interesting details, such as the bell tower on the Mellen City 
Hall. Wildhagen f s South Shore Public School (1903) is listed in the 
National Register of Historic Places.

Although the building has little architectural significance beyond 
the community of Mellen, its local importance is considerable when 
compared with other Mellen buildings. A feature comparable in design 
and embellishment to the bell tower cannot be found elsewhere in the 
community. One of the notable aspects of the city hall is its practically 
unchanged state. The building retains its original floors, ceilings, 
and woodwork. It is one of the few city halls in Wisconsin that 
was spared the addition of a dropped accoustical tile ceiling and 
linoleum flooring.

The city hall is the dominant focal point in Mellen. It is the first 
building seen when one enters town from any direction and is the 
outstanding example of nineteenth century architecture in Mellen. 
Local pride in the building is strong, in part demonstrated by the 
enthusiasm exhibited in the collection of information for this 
nomination.
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